
 
EXECUTIVE SERVICES  

TONBRIDGE & MALLING 

BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

Chief Executive 
Julie Beilby BSc (Hons) MBA 
 

Gibson Building 
Gibson Drive 
Kings Hill, West Malling 
Kent ME19 4LZ 
West Malling (01732) 844522 

 

 
NB - This agenda contains proposals, 
recommendations and options. These do 
not represent Council policy or decisions 
until they have received proper 
consideration through the full decision 
making process. 

Contact: Democratic Services 
committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk 

 
8 February 2023 

  

 
To: MEMBERS OF THE AREA 1 PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 (Copies to all Members of the Council) 

 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
Your attendance is requested at a meeting of the Area 1 Planning Committee to be held 
in Council Chamber,  Gibson Drive, Kings Hill on Thursday, 16th February, 2023 
commencing at 7.30 pm.  
 
Members of the Committee are required to attend in person. Other Members may attend 
in person or participate online via MS Teams. 
 
Information on how to observe the meeting will be published on the Council’s website. 
Deposited plans can be viewed online by using Public Access. 
 

Yours faithfully 
 
JULIE BEILBY 
 
Chief Executive 

  

 
 

A G E N D A 
 

 
 
1. Guidance for the Conduct of Meetings  
 

5 - 6 

Public Document Pack

http://www.tmbc.gov.uk/view-planning-applications


 PART 1 - PUBLIC 
 

2. Apologies for Absence  
 

 

3. Declarations of Interest  
 

 

 Members are reminded of their obligation under the Council’s Code of Conduct to 
disclose any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Other Significant Interests in any 
matter(s) to be considered or being considered at the meeting. These are 
explained in the Code of Conduct on the Council’s website at Code of conduct – 
Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council (tmbc.gov.uk). 
 
Members in any doubt about such declarations are advised to contact Legal or 
Democratic Services in advance of the meeting 
 

4. Minutes  
 

7 - 14 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of Area 1 Planning 
Committee held on 1 December 2022 
 

5. Glossary and Supplementary Matters  
 

15 - 22 

 Glossary of abbreviations used in reports to the Area Planning Committee 
(attached for information)  
 
Any supplementary matters will be circulated via report in advance of the meeting 
and published to the website. 
 

 Decisions to be taken by the Committee 
 

6. TM/22/00571/FL - 60A Priory Street, Tonbridge  
 

23 - 54 

 Redevelopment of the site to provide eleven dwellings and associated parking, 
landscaping and amenity at 60A Priory Street Tonbridge Kent TN9 2AW    
 

7. Urgent Items  
 

 

 Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 
 

 Matters for consideration in Private 
 

8. Exclusion of Press and Public  
 

 

 The Chairman to move that the press and public be excluded from the remainder 
of the meeting during consideration of any items the publication of which would 
disclose exempt information. 
 
 
 
 
 

Members%20are%20reminded%20of%20their%20obligation%20under%20the%20Council’s%20Code%20of%20Conduct%20to%20disclose%20any%20Disclosable%20Pecuniary%20Interests%20and%20Other%20Significant%20Interests%20in%20any%20matter(s)%20to%20be%20considered%20or%20being%20considered%20at%20the%20meeting.%20These%20are%20explained%20in%20the%20Code%20of%20Conduct%20on%20the%20Council’s%20website%20at%20Code%20of%20conduct%20–%20Tonbridge%20and%20Malling%20Borough%20Council%20(tmbc.gov.uk).
Members%20are%20reminded%20of%20their%20obligation%20under%20the%20Council’s%20Code%20of%20Conduct%20to%20disclose%20any%20Disclosable%20Pecuniary%20Interests%20and%20Other%20Significant%20Interests%20in%20any%20matter(s)%20to%20be%20considered%20or%20being%20considered%20at%20the%20meeting.%20These%20are%20explained%20in%20the%20Code%20of%20Conduct%20on%20the%20Council’s%20website%20at%20Code%20of%20conduct%20–%20Tonbridge%20and%20Malling%20Borough%20Council%20(tmbc.gov.uk).


 PART 2 - PRIVATE 
 

9. Urgent Items  
 

 

 Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 
 



 
 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Cllr D W King (Chair) 
Cllr M R Rhodes (Vice-Chair) 

 
 Cllr Mrs J A Anderson 

Cllr Mrs P A Bates 
Cllr J L Botten 
Cllr M D Boughton 
Cllr V M C Branson 
Cllr G C Bridge 
Cllr A E Clark 
Cllr A Cope 
Cllr M O Davis 
 

Cllr N Foyle 
Cllr N J Heslop 
Cllr M A J Hood 
Cllr F A Hoskins 
Cllr J R S Lark 
Cllr H S Rogers 
Cllr J L Sergison 
Cllr Miss G E Thomas 
Cllr F G Tombolis 
 

 



GUIDANCE ON HOW MEETINGS WILL BE CONDUCTED 

 

(1) All meetings of the Borough Council will be livestreamed to YouTube here, 

unless there is exempt or confidential business be discussed: 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCPp-IJlSNgoF-ugSzxjAPfw/featured  

(2) There are no fire drills planned during the time a meeting is being held.  For the 

benefit of those in the meeting room, the fire alarm is a long continuous bell and 

the exits are via the doors used to enter the room.  An officer on site will lead 

any evacuation. 

(3) Should you need this agenda or any of the reports in a different format, or have 

any other queries concerning the meeting, please contact Democratic Services 

on committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk in the first instance. 

 

Attendance: 

- Members of the Committee/Advisory Board are required to attend in person and 

be present in the meeting room.  Only these Members are able to move/ second 

or amend motions, and vote. 

- Other Members of the Council can join via MS Teams and can take part in any 

discussion and ask questions, when invited to do so by the Chairman, but cannot 

move/ second or amend motions or vote on any matters. Members participating 

remotely are reminded that this does not count towards their formal committee 

attendance.  

- Occasionally, Members of the Committee/Advisory Board are unable to attend in 

person and may join via MS Teams in the same way as other Members.  However, 

they are unable to move/ second or amend motions or vote on any matters if they 

are not present in the meeting room. As with other Members joining via MS Teams, 

this does not count towards their formal committee attendance. 

- Officers can participate in person or online. 

- Members of the public addressing an Area Planning Committee can participate in 

person or online.  Please contact committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk for further 

information. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCPp-IJlSNgoF-ugSzxjAPfw/featured
mailto:committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk
mailto:committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk


Before formal proceedings start there will be a sound check of Members/Officers in 

the room.  This is done as a roll call and confirms attendance of voting Members. 

Ground Rules: 

The meeting will operate under the following ground rules: 

- Members in the Chamber should indicate to speak in the usual way and use the 

fixed microphones in front of them.  These need to be switched on when speaking 

or comments will not be heard by those participating online.  Please switch off 

microphones when not speaking. 

- If there any technical issues the meeting will be adjourned to try and rectify them.  

If this is not possible there are a number of options that can be taken to enable the 

meeting to continue.  These will be explained if it becomes necessary. 

For those Members participating online: 

- please request to speak using the ‘chat  or hand raised function’; 

- please turn off cameras and microphones when not speaking; 

- please do not use the ‘chat function’ for other matters as comments can be seen 

by all; 

- Members may wish to blur the background on their camera using the facility on 

Microsoft teams. 

- Please avoid distractions and general chat if not addressing the meeting 

- Please remember to turn off or silence mobile phones 

Voting: 

Voting may be undertaken by way of a roll call and each Member should verbally 

respond For, Against, Abstain.  The vote will be noted and announced by the 

Democratic Services Officer. 

Alternatively, votes may be taken by general affirmation if it seems that there is 

agreement amongst Members.  The Chairman will announce the outcome of the vote 

for those participating and viewing online. 

 

 

 

Page 6



 

 
1 

 

 
 
 

TONBRIDGE AND MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

AREA 1 PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES 
 

Thursday, 1st December, 2022 
 

Present: Cllr D W King (Chair), Cllr M R Rhodes (Vice-Chair), 
Cllr Mrs J A Anderson, Cllr J L Botten, Cllr M D Boughton, 
Cllr V M C Branson, Cllr G C Bridge, Cllr A E Clark, Cllr A Cope, 
Cllr M O Davis, Cllr N Foyle, Cllr N J Heslop, Cllr F A Hoskins, 
Cllr J R S Lark, Cllr J L Sergison and Cllr Miss G E Thomas 
 

 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Mrs P A Bates, 
M A J Hood, H S Rogers and F G Tombolis 
 
PART 1 - PUBLIC 
 

AP1 22/27    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Councillor M Davis declared an Other Significant Interest in applications 
TM/22/00101/FL and TM/22/00102/LB on the grounds that the applicant 
was a client at his legal firm.  He withdrew from the meeting as soon as 
this interest became apparent and took no part in the discussion and did 
not vote on the applications. 
 

AP1 22/28    MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED:  That the Minutes of the meeting of the Area 1 Planning 
Committee held on 23 June 2022 be approved as a correct record and 
signed by the Chairman. 
 

AP1 22/29    GLOSSARY AND SUPPLEMENTARY MATTERS  
 
Decisions were taken on the following applications subject to the pre-
requisites, informatives, conditions or reasons for refusal set out in the 
report of the Director of Planning, Housing and Environmental Health or 
in the variations indicated below.  Any supplementary reports were 
tabled at the meeting.  
 
Members of the public addressed the meeting where the required notice 
had been given and their comments were taken into account by the 
Committee when determining the application.  Speakers are listed under 
the relevant planning application shown below.   
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



AREA 1 PLANNING COMMITTEE 1 December 2022 
 
 

 
2 

 

DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH PART 3 OF THE CONSTITUTION (RESPONSIBILITY FOR 
COUNCIL FUNCTIONS) 
 

AP1 22/30    TM/21/02298/FL - TONBRIDGE PRS, MEDWAY WHARF ROAD, 
TONBRIDGE  
 
Demolition of existing gasholders and associated structures. 
Redevelopment of the site to provide 144 residential units and up to 567 
sqm of flexible Class E/ancillary residential floorspace. The proposals 
include the delivery of landscaping and public realm, play space, access, 
car parking and other associated and ancillary works at 
Tonbridge P R S, Medway Wharf Road, Tonbridge.    
 
RESOLVED:  That planning permission be GRANTED subject to 
 
(1) the applicant entering into a S106 agreement to make financial 

contributions and secure a late-stage review mechanism as set 
out in paragraph 5.137 of the report;  

 
(2) the details, conditions, reasons and informatives set out in the 

report of the Director of Planning, Housing and Environmental 
Health; subject to the  

 
(3) Amendment to submitted details in the recommendation as 

follows:- 
 

Management Plan  Construction  dated 07.10.2021, Landscaping  
15772-VL_L02C  dated 20.08.2021, Location Plan  15772-100 A 
dated 20.08.2021, Letter  Covering  dated 31.08.2021, Energy 
Statement  dated 20.08.2021, Report  Arboricultural  dated 
20.08.2021, Assessment  Daylight and sunlight  dated 20.08.2021, 
Other  Daylight and Sunlight Assessment Appendix A2 and A3  
dated 20.08.2021, Design and Access Statement  Sect 1-7  dated 
20.08.2021, Assessment  Odour A dated 20.08.2021, Noise 
Assessment    dated 20.08.2021, Statement  Heritage  dated 
20.08.2021, Statement  Community Involvement  dated 
20.08.2021, Sustainability Report  dated 20.08.2021, Flood Risk 
Assessment  and Drainage Strategy  dated 20.08.2021, 
Assessment  Detailed Quantative Risk Assessment for Controlled 
Waters  dated 20.08.2021, Arboricultural Assessment  
TCP/4323/Y/100  dated 20.08.2021, Planning Layout  
ARB/4323/Y/200  dated 20.08.2021, Tree Protection Plan  
TPP/4323/Y/300  dated 20.08.2021, Proposed Plans  15772 - 
SK16  dated 05.05.2022, Other  TECHNICAL DESIGN NOTE  
dated 05.05.2022, Existing Plans  15772 - SK14  dated 
05.05.2022, Proposed Plans  15772 - SK15  dated 05.05.2022, 
Other  20176 - SK20220421.1  dated 05.05.2022, Other  20176-
SK20220421.2  dated 05.05.2022, Site Layout  15772-102F  dated 
13.10.2022, Proposed Floor Plans  15772-103E  dated 

Page 8



AREA 1 PLANNING COMMITTEE 1 December 2022 
 
 

 
3 

 

13.10.2022, Proposed Floor Plans  15772-104E  dated 
13.10.2022, Proposed Floor Plans  15772-105E  dated 
13.10.2022, Proposed Floor Plans  15772-106E  dated 
13.10.2022, Proposed Floor Plans  15772-107C  dated 
13.10.2022, Proposed Floor Plans  15772-108C  dated 
13.10.2022, Proposed Floor Plans  15772-109C  dated 
13.10.2022, Proposed Floor Plans  15772-110C  dated 
13.10.2022, Proposed Elevations  15772-111D  dated 13.10.2022, 
Proposed Elevations  15772-112C  dated 13.10.2022, Proposed 
Elevations  15772-113C  dated 13.10.2022, Proposed Elevations  
15772-114C  dated 13.10.2022, Proposed Elevations  15772-
115C  dated 13.10.2022, Proposed Elevations  15772-116C  
dated 13.10.2022, Landscaping  15772-VL_L01H  dated 
31.08.2022, Other  15772 - TR008-B Swept Path Analysis Fire 
dated 31.08.2022, Sections  15772-117C  dated 10.06.2022, 
Sections  15772-118B Historic Society dated 10.06.2022, Other  
Supplier Price Update  dated 05.01.2022, Assessment  FVA 
Aligned to Review  dated 05.01.2022, Report  Viability Response  
dated 05.01.2022, Other  Design Intent Movable Planters dated 
21.12.2021, Assessment  FVA Policy Compliant Emerging 25% 
AH  dated 30.11.2021, Other  Technical design note  dated 
11.03.2022, Assessment  FVA Policy Compliant Current 40% AH  
dated 30.11.2021, Assessment  FVA Reduced Contributions 0% 
AH  dated 30.11.2021, Other  Technical design note  dated 
24.01.2022, Email  ADDITIONAL INFORMATION - 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH  dated 28.01.2022, Other  Technical 
note-odour  dated 24.01.2022, Statement  Fire 1C dated 
26.08.2022, Report  viability  dated 27.08.2022, Remediation 
Strategy  verification plan  dated 27.07.2021, Ground Investigation 
Report    dated 16.07.2021, Statement  Planning  dated 
01.08.2021, Transport Assessment    dated 22.07.2021, Travel 
Plan    dated 01.07.2021, Ecological Assessment    dated 
01.08.2021, Existing Site Plan 15772-101A dated 23.7.21, 
Schedule  Updated - Accommodation schedule November 2022  
dated 21.11.2022, Schedule  Updated - Drawing/document 
schedule November 2022  dated 21.11.2022. 
 

(4) Amended Condition 5: 
 
The development shall not be brought into use until an updated 
Travel Plan to that hereby approved, to reduce dependency on the 
private car, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The updated Travel Plan shall include 
objectives and modal-split targets, a programme of implementation 
and provision for monitoring, review and improvement, details of 
allocation and control of the parking spaces hereby permitted, and 
details of the car club scheme. Thereafter, the Travel Plan shall be 
put into action and adhered to throughout the life of the 
development, or that of the Travel Plan itself, whichever is the 
shorter. Monitoring fee of £948.  

Page 9



AREA 1 PLANNING COMMITTEE 1 December 2022 
 
 

 
4 

 

 
Reason: In the interests of promoting sustainable transport 
 

(5) Amended Condition 7: 
 
No development, other than the demolition of any buildings, 
removal of hardstanding, ground investigations, remediation 
works or site survey works, shall  be carried out until details of the 
proposed car charging points have been submitted  to, and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. The charging points 
shall be  installed prior to the first occupation of the 
development, and thereafter maintained  and retained in 
accordance with the approved details. 
  
 Reason: To encourage the use of electric vehicles in the interests 
of mitigating climate change in accordance with national 
objectives. 
 

(6) Amended Condition 17: 
 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
submitted flood risk  assessment (ref 18156-HYD-XX-XX-RP-FR-
0001 P03 | 05/11/2021 | Hydrock), in  addition to the latest 
design technical note (ref 18156-HYD-XX-XX-TN-FR-0007  P03 
| dated 17 May 2022 | Hydrock) and the following mitigation 
measures they  detail:  
 
1. Finished floor levels shall be set no lower than 23.18 metres 

above Ordnance Datum (AOD) for residential accommodation. 
It is noted the lower ground floor level is to be 22.00mAOD.  

2. Plant rooms to be set at a level no lower than 22.58m AOD 
which is the 1 in 100 year plus 35% Climate Change modelled 
level. 

3. The external and finished floor levels will be as proposed in 
the DWG ref 15772-102 Rev F, by the Harris Partnership 
dated 12.05.2022 

4. A Flood Evacuation Management Plan to include advice for 
future occupants/residents to sign up to the EA flood warning 
service.  

 

These mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to 
occupation and subsequently in accordance with the scheme’s 
timing/phasing arrangements.  The measures detailed above 
shall be retained and maintained thereafter  throughout the 
lifetime of the development.    

 

 Reason:  To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed 
development and future occupants and to prevent flooding 
elsewhere by ensuring that compensatory storage of flood water 
is provided. 

Page 10



AREA 1 PLANNING COMMITTEE 1 December 2022 
 
 

 
5 

 

 
(7) Amended Condition 20: 
 

Prior to the construction of the development frontage to the River 
Medway (referred to as Block A on DWG No 15772-111 Rev D 
dated 09.06.22) full details regarding the structural integrity and 
condition of the flood defence river wall engineered high ground 
and a plan of works will be submitted and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority (LPA). This may include the below:  
 

 A full structural investigation of integrity and assessment of 
condition of the flood defences. This includes all elements 
of the flood defence, such as the landward face, buried 
elements and any outfalls crossing it.  

 Estimation of the residual life of the flood defence frontage 
at this site and how this interacts with the lifetime of the 
new development.  

 Consideration to incorporate an enhanced frontage into the 
development, thereby securing its long-term structural 
integrity and maintenance, as well as improving its visual, 
ecological and amenity value.  

 The findings of the above will inform options for a plan of 
flood defence replacement and maintenance.  

 The plan as approved to be fully implemented.  
 
 Reason: To ensure a fit for purpose flood defence will keep the 
development safe from flooding for its lifetime of 100yrs in line 
with NPPF. 
 

(8) Amended Condition 31: 
 

Prior to the commencement of development, a dimensional and 
photographic record of the gasholders in situ shall be produced 
and submitted to the Local Planning Authority and Tonbridge 
Historical Society.  The identification plates for GH1 and GH2 
shall be passed to the Tonbridge Historical Society for future 
preservation. 

 
 Reason:  In the interests of recording the historical 

importance of the site within the local area.   
 

(9) Addition of conditions 
 

32. No development shall commence above slab level until details 
of flood mitigation measures to protect: 
 

a) plant and services and;  
b) 8 residential units located on the ground floor of the 

development hereby approved,  have been submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority.    

Page 11



AREA 1 PLANNING COMMITTEE 1 December 2022 
 
 

 
6 

 

 
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed 
development and future occupants.   
 
33. No external lighting shall be installed in connection with the 
development hereby approved until such details have been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, and 
the work shall be carried out in strict accordance with those 
details and maintained and retained at all times thereafter. 

  
 Reason:  In the interests of visual and residential amenity.  

 
(10) Amended Informative 8: 
 

It is noted from the 'Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy' 
(Hydrock, ref 18156-HYD-XX-XX-RP-FR-0001 Rev. P03, 
November 2021) that no infiltration to  ground is proposed, and 
that surface water will be discharged to the local 
 watercourses.  
 

(11)  Removal of Informative 35: 
 
It is requested that following demolition of the gasholders the 
identification plates for GH1 and GH2 are passed to the 
Tonbridge Historical Society for future preservation.  (now part of 
Condition 31). 
 

[Speakers: Tonbridge Historical Society (Mr David Phillips) and 
Mr Paul Galgey (agent)]   
 

AP1 22/31    (A) TM/22/00101/FL AND (B) TM/22/00102/LB - 1 HADLOW 
CASTLE, HIGH STREET, HADLOW, TONBRIDGE  
 

(1) Retrospective application for the removal of 3 windows and 
replacement with 3 black aluminium double glazed windows at 1 
Hadlow Castle, High Street, Hadlow. 

 
A proposal to refuse retrospective planning permission on the grounds 
that the material, design and colour of the replacement windows was 
inappropriate and detrimental to the Grade 1 Listed Building was lost 
following a formal vote.   
 
RESOLVED:  That planning permission be GRANTED in accordance 
with the submitted details, conditions, reasons and informatives set out 
in the report of the Director of Planning, Housing and Environmental 
Health. 
 
 

Page 12



AREA 1 PLANNING COMMITTEE 1 December 2022 
 
 

 
7 

 

(2) Listed Building Application: Retrospective application for the 
removal of 3 windows and replacement with 3 Black aluminium 
double glazed windows at 1 Hadlow Castle, High Street, Hadlow.  

 
 
RESOLVED:   That Listed Building Consent be GRANTED in 
accordance with the submitted details, conditions, reasons and 
informatives set out in the report of the Director of Planning, Housing 
and Environmental Health.  
 
 
[Speakers: Mr Owen Baldock and Mr Martin Ingham (Members of the 
Public) and Mr Chris Williams (applicant)] 
 
 

AP1 22/32    EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
There were no items considered in private. 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 11.10 pm 
 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

GLOSSARY of Abbreviations used in reports to Area Planning Committees 

 

A 

AAP   Area of Archaeological Potential 

AGA     Prior Approval: Agriculture (application suffix) 

AGN  Prior Notification: Agriculture (application suffix) 

AODN  Above Ordnance Datum, Newlyn 

AONB  Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

APC1   Area 1 Planning Committee 

APC2   Area 2 Planning Committee 

APC3   Area 3 Planning Committee 

AT   Advertisement consent (application suffix) 

 

B 

BALI  British Association of Landscape Industries 

BPN   Building Preservation Notice 

BRE   Building Research Establishment 

 

C 

CA   Conservation Area (designated area) 

CCEASC KCC Screening Opinion (application suffix) 

CCEASP KCC Scoping Opinion (application suffix) 

CCG NHS Kent and Medway Group 

CNA   Consultation by Neighbouring Authority (application suffix) 

CPRE  Council for the Protection of Rural England 

CR3   County Regulation 3 (application suffix – determined by KCC) 

CR4  County Regulation 4 (application suffix – determined by KCC) 

CTRL  Channel Tunnel Rail Link (application suffix) 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



2 
 

D 

DCLG  Department for Communities and Local Government 

DCMS  Department for Culture, Media and Sport 

DEEM  Deemed application (application suffix) 

DEFRA  Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

DEPN  Prior Notification: Demolition (application suffix) 

DfT  Department for Transport  

DLADPD  Development Land Allocations Development Plan Document 

DMPO  Development Management Procedure Order 

DPD   Development Plan Document 

DPHEH  Director of Planning, Housing & Environmental Health 

DR3   District Regulation 3 

DR4   District Regulation 4 

DSSLT Director of Street Scene, Leisure & Technical Services  

 

E 

EA   Environment Agency 

EIA  Environmental Impact Assessment  

EASC Environmental Impact Assessment Screening request (application 

suffix) 

EASP  Environmental Impact Assessment Scoping request (application suffix) 

EH   English Heritage 

EL   Electricity (application suffix) 

ELB   Ecclesiastical Exemption Consultation (Listed Building) 

EEO  Ecclesiastical Exemption Order  

ELEX   Overhead Lines (Exemptions) 

EMCG  East Malling Conservation Group 

ES  Environmental Statement 

EP  Environmental Protection 

 

 

Page 16



3 
 

F 

FRA   Flood Risk Assessment 

FC   Felling Licence 

FL   Full Application (planning application suffix) 

FLX  Full Application: Extension of Time  

FLEA   Full Application with Environmental Impact Assessment 

 

G 

GDPO  Town & Country Planning (General Development Procedure) 

Order 2015  

GOV   Consultation on Government Development 

GPDO  Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

Order 2015 (as amended) 

 

H 

HE  Highways England  

HSE   Health and Safety Executive 

HN   Hedgerow Removal Notice (application suffix) 

HWRC Household Waste Recycling Centre 

 

I 

IDD  Internal Drainage District 

IDB  Upper Medway Internal Drainage Board 

IGN3 Kent Design Guide Review: Interim Guidance Note 3 Residential 

Parking 

 

K 

KCC   Kent County Council 

KCCVPS  Kent County Council Vehicle Parking Standards: Supplementary 

Planning Guidance SPG 4 

KDD   KCC Kent Design document 

Page 17



4 
 

KFRS  Kent Fire and Rescue Service 

KGT  Kent Garden Trust 

KWT   Kent Wildlife Trust 

 

L 

LB   Listed Building Consent (application suffix) 

LBX  Listed Building Consent: Extension of Time  

LDF   Local Development Framework 

LDLBP Lawful Development Proposed Listed Building (application suffix) 

LEMP  Landscape and Ecology Management Plan 

LLFA   Lead Local Flood Authority 

LMIDB  Lower Medway Internal Drainage Board 

LPA   Local Planning Authority 

LWS  Local Wildlife Site 

LDE  Lawful Development Certificate: Existing Use or Development 

(application suffix) 

LDP   Lawful Development Certificate: Proposed Use or 

Development (application suffix) 

LP  Local Plan 

LRD   Listed Building Consent Reserved Details (application suffix) 

 

M 

MBC   Maidstone Borough Council 

MC   Medway Council (Medway Towns Unitary Authority) 

MCA   Mineral Consultation Area 

MDE DPD  Managing Development and the Environment Development 

Plan Document 

MGB   Metropolitan Green Belt 

MHCL  Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government  

MIN  Mineral Planning Application (application suffix, KCC determined) 

MSI Member Site Inspection 

Page 18



5 
 

MWLP  Minerals & Waste Local Plan 

 

N 

NE   Natural England 

NMA   Non Material Amendment (application suffix) 

NPPF   National Planning Policy Framework 

 

O 

OA   Outline Application (application suffix) 

OAEA  Outline Application with Environment Impact Assessment (application 

suffix) 

OAX Outline Application: Extension of Time  

OB1O6D Details pursuant to S106 obligation (application suffix) 

OB106M Modify S106 obligation by agreement (application suffix) 

OB106V Vary S106 obligation (application suffix) 

OB106X Discharge S106 obligation (application suffix) 

 

P 

PC  Parish Council 

PD   Permitted Development 

PD4D  Permitted development - change of use flexible 2 year  

PDL  Previously Developed Land 

PDRA Permitted development – change of use agricultural building to flexible 

use (application suffix) 

PDV14J Permitted development - solar equipment on non-domestic premises 

(application suffix) 

PDV18 Permitted development - miscellaneous development (application 

suffix) 

PDVAF Permitted development – agricultural building to flexible use 

(application suffix) 

PDVAR Permitted development - agricultural building to residential (application 

suffix) 

Page 19



6 
 

PLVLR Permitted development - larger residential extension (application suffix) 

PDVOR Permitted development - office to residential (application suffix)  

PDVPRO Permitted development - pub to retail and/or office (application suffix) 

PDVSDR Permitted development storage/distribution to residential (application 

suffix) 

PDVSFR Permitted development PD – shops and financial to restaurant 

(application suffix) 

PDVSR Permitted development PD – shop and sui generis to residential 

(application suffix) 

POS   Public Open Space 

PPG  Planning Practice Guidance 

PWC  Prior Written Consent 

PROW  Public Right Of Way 

 

R 

RD   Reserved Details (application suffix) 

RM   Reserved Matters (application suffix)   

 

S 

SDC  Sevenoaks District Council 

SEW   South East Water 

SFRA  Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (background for the emerging Local 

Plan) 

SNCI   Site of Nature Conservation Interest 

SPAB   Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings 

SPD   Supplementary Planning Document 

SSSI   Site of Special Scientific Interest 

SW  Southern Water  

 

T 

TC   Town Council 

TCAAP  Tonbridge Town Centre Area Action Plan 

Page 20



7 
 

TCS   Tonbridge Civic Society 

TEPN56/TEN Prior Notification: Telecoms (application suffix) 

TMBC  Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council 

TMBCS  Tonbridge & Malling Borough Core Strategy 2007 

TMBLP  Tonbridge & Malling Borough Local Plan 1998 

TNCA  Notification: Trees in Conservation Areas (application suffix) 

TPOC  Trees subject to TPO (application suffix) 

TRD   Tree Consent Reserved Details (application suffix) 

TRICS Trip Rate Information Computer System 

TWBC  Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

 

U 

UCO   Town and Country Planning Use Classes Order 1987 (as amended) 

UMIDB  Upper Medway Internal Drainage Board 

 

W 

WAS   Waste Disposal Planning Application (KCC determined) 

WTS  Waste Transfer Station 

 

 

(Version 2/2021) 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

 

 
Tonbridge 14 March 2022 TM/22/00571/FL 
Vauxhall 
 
Proposal: Redevelopment of the site to provide eleven dwellings and 

associated parking, landscaping and amenity 
Location: 60A Priory Street Tonbridge Kent TN9 2AW    
Go to: Recommendation 
 

 
1. Description: 

1.1 Planning permission is sought for the redevelopment of the site to comprise the 

erection of eleven dwellings. The dwellings would be arranged along a generally 

linear pattern parallel to Pembury Road but facing northeast towards Priory 

Street and Priory Grove. The existing access from Priory Street would be 

retained and this would lead to the communal parking and turning area to the 

front of the dwellings. This would include thirteen car parking spaces arranged 

as a courtyard to the front (east) of the dwellings. .  

1.2 The 2.5 storey dwellings would be laid out as three terraces (each with three 

dwellings) with a detached dwelling at the northwest and southeast corners of 

the site. The detached dwellings would be set back from the line of the terraces 

but within wider triangular plots.  

1.3 The dwellings would feature brick elevations with two-storey square bays to the 

front. The pitched and gabled composite slate roofs would include dormer 

windows serving accommodation in the roof.  

1.4 A refuse and cycle store is shown to the north of the site.  

1.5 The proposal was amended to include revised/supplementary information 

regarding the access and parking arrangements and alterations to the elevation 

design of the dwellings. This report relates to the design as amended.  

2. Reason for reporting to Committee: 

2.1 The application is referred to Committee at the request of Cllr Hoskins for 

consideration of density and layout. 

3. The Site: 

3.1 The site is a triangular-shaped parcel of land measuring 0.25ha with single-

storey buildings to the northwest corner. It was formerly used as a builders’ 

merchants but currently operates as a car park under a temporary permission 

(TM/21/00946/FL). It is a backland site enclosed by existing development along 

Pembury Road to the west, Priory Street to the east and Priory Grove/Priory 

Walk to the north. Access to the site is via a drive situated between 60 and 60B 

Priory Street. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

3.2 The site is situated within the urban area of Tonbridge. Whilst 400m from 

Tonbridge Rail station and the wider range of services and facilities of 

Tonbridge Town Centre, it is in a predominantly residential area.  

3.3 The site is within Flood Zone 1 and within an archaeological notification area.  

4. Planning History (relevant): 

TM/85/10459/FUL grant with conditions 28 March 1985 

Demolition of part of existing buildings and erection of new storage building. 

TM/90/10686/FUL grant with conditions 18 September 1990 

Rebuilding of timber store. 

TM/91/11006/FUL grant with conditions 27 November 1991 

Demolition of existing store and erection of new store. 

TM/18/02401/FL Refuse 1 March 2019 

Demolition of existing Jewsons shop, construction of 12 no. houses 

TM/21/00946/FL Approved 7 June 2021 

Temporary retrospective planning application for a change of use from a builders’ 
merchants, stores and yard to a public car park and bicycle store for a period of 
two years starting from the date of decision 

5. Consultees: 

5.1 KCC (Highways): 

5.1.1 Concerns were expressed regarding vehicle tracking as set out in the original 

application.  

5.1.2 In the response to revised information, the following comments/observations 

were received: 

 The sightlines from the existing access meet the standards for Manual for the 

Streets. 

 Bus and rail services are approximately 400m away. 

 The trip generation at peak periods is less than extant granted permissions. 

 Footways are in ample supply, although cycle routes are lacking. 

 Cycle parking  

 Car parking will be given on the basis of one space per one dwelling, which 

for a town centre and sustainable location, is adequate. There will be two 

additional visitor spaces.  

 Electric Vehicle Charging Points should be provided for each allocated 

space. 

Page 24



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

 Vehicle tracking has been provided and intended vehicle movements fit 

within the proposed layout. 

5.1.3 On the basis of the above, no objection was raised. Conditions were 

recommended regarding the requirement for a Construction Management Plan, 

provision and retention of car and cycle parking and the provision of electric 

vehicle chargers.  

5.2 KCC Flood and Water Management: The proposal is generally acceptable. Pre-

commencement conditions requiring drainage design and verification reports 

are recommended and the response includes advisories for the details which 

should be included/addressed within these submissions.  

5.3 KCC Economic Development: Financial contributions are requested to mitigate 

the impact upon the delivery of community services. (The requests are set out 

in the Planning Obligations section of this report). 

5.4 KCC Heritage: The site has potential for Early Prehistoric remains. Although it 

lies south of the main focus of Medieval and Post Medieval activity, in view of 

the limited extent of historic development on the site, there is potential for as yet 

unknown remains dating from the Prehistoric Period onwards. As such, a 

condition requiring an archaeological programme and scheme of investigation is 

recommended.  

5.5 Kent Fire & Rescue: Initial concerns about access have with withdrawn subject 

to updated information.   

5.6 Kent Police: Kent Police recommend that the application attains an SBD 

certification to show commitment to community safety and acknowledgment of 

crime prevention measures implemented 

5.7 Leisure Services: Financial contributions sought for this development would 

total £44,000.00 if on-site or off-site open space provision is not included under 

the terms of Policy OS3. 

5.8 Southern Water: Southern Water confirms that it can facilitate foul sewerage 

disposal for the proposed development. However, network reinforcement may 

be required, which would be provided by Southern Water working together with 

the developer. It recommends a condition that occupation is controlled in line 

with the delivery of suitable reinforcement.  

5.9 It further notes that although a privately owned and maintained Sustainable 

urban Drainage System (SuDS) is proposed, this may be adopted by Southern 

Water under certain circumstances. Further details should be required by 

condition. 

Page 25



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

5.10 Private Reps: 34+site notice & press notice /0X/0S/18R: There were 25 

representations in total from the initial consultation, 18 of which object to the 

proposal on the following grounds: 

 Proposal would result in increased traffic. 

 Insufficient parking would aggravate existing parking pressure for on-street 

parking. 

 Construction noise would result in disturbance to neighbours. 

 The proposal would result in overlooking and overshadowing of neighbouring 

properties and harm to views (44/60 Priory Street, 43 Pembury Road). Large 

windows to the rear elevation would lead to harm. 

 The site should be used for the benefit of current residents rather than 

cramming new development in insufficient space. 

 The proposal would reduce the value of nearby properties. (This is not a 

planning consideration.) 

 Errors on plans as buildings shown as 38m in height. 

 The proposal would amount to overdevelopment of the site. Reduced number 

and height/massing would be preferable. 

 The proposed dwellings are targeted as flat shares/renters. They would not 

be family homes. 

 Insufficient outdoor amenity space for future occupiers. 

 The design and scale of the dwellings is not in keeping with the area.  

 Concern is expressed about lack of detail regarding perimeter enclosures. 

 The proposal could result in cutting down neighbouring trees without 

permission. 

 The proposal would lead to an influx of rodents. 

 Development should include a communal playground. 

5.10.2 There are 7 representations setting out general comments as follows: 

 Queries have been raised regarding existing and proposed boundary 

treatments and their future management.  

 There are errors in the submission pertaining to identification of neighbouring 

dwellings. 

 Proposed trees should be mature specimens. 

 The quantity of houses is similar to the previously refused scheme. 

 No bat survey is visible. 

 Queries on changes to submission. 

5.10.3 As the result of a second consultation on the amended scheme (63/0X/0S/6R). 

there were 6 further letters of objection summarised as follows: 

 Parking remains unsatisfactory.  

 The revised design does not improve upon the scheme and does not address 

other concerns. 

Page 26



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

 Neighbouring residential property has been incorrectly labelled as non-

residential.  

 Infrastructure of the site and surrounding area are inadequate for additional 

dwellings.  

 The development results in overdevelopment. 

 Boundary treatments are insufficient to prevent overlooking. 

6. Determining Issues: 

Principle of the development: 

6.1 As Members are aware, the Council cannot currently demonstrate an up-to-date 

five-year supply of housing when measured against its objectively assessed 

need (OAN). This means that the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development as set out at paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2021) must be applied. 

For decision taking this means: 

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 
development plan without delay; or 

d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which 
are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
permission unless: 

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets 
of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed; or 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole. 

6.2 In this case, none of the policies referred in 11(d)(i) apply to the site. As such, 

pursuant to paragraph 11(d) (ii) of the NPPF, permission should be granted 

unless the adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits when the proposal is assessed against the policies in the 

Framework taken as a whole. 

6.3 The NPPF states at paragraph 7 that the purpose of the planning system is to 

contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. Paragraph 8 of the 

NPPF states that the planning system has three overarching objectives to 

achieving sustainable development, these being an economic objective, such 

as ensuring adequate land is available to support growth and enable the 

provision of infrastructure; a social objective, such as ensuring a sufficient 

number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and 

future generations as well as accessible services and open spaces; and an 

environmental objective, ensuring that effective use is made of land, helping to 

improve biodiversity and protecting and enhancing the natural, built and historic 

environment.  

Page 27



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

6.4 The location of the site and the type of development proposed would be 

considered sustainable development under paragraph 8 of the NPPF, and this 

is set out in greater detail throughout this report as necessary 

6.5 The development plan is the starting point for determining all planning 

applications, (as statutorily required by s38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2006), and this is reiterated in paragraph 12 of the NPPF. 

6.6 Development plan policy CP11 of the Tonbridge and Malling Borough Core 

Strategy (“TMBCS”) seeks to direct development to urban areas in order to 

accord with the principles of sustainability set out in policies CP1 and CP2 of 

the TMBCS. This policy accords with the aims of the NPPF to maximise 

opportunities for the supply of housing in appropriate locations that can 

contribute towards the supply and maintain and enhance the vitality of existing 

communities. The policy is up-to-date, and the proposed development broadly 

accords with these aims and the requirements of this policy. 

6.7 The site is identified within Policy H4 (“constrained housing sites”) of the 

Development Land Allocations Development Plan Document 2008 (“DLA DPD”) 

as a site suitable for residential development. The policy states that proposals 

for residential development of such sites should comply with the criteria detailed 

for each site and all general policy requirements, including any necessary 

contributions. The sites should be developed at the highest density compatible 

with the character and amenity of the surrounding area but not normally at a 

density of less than 30 dwellings per hectare. 

6.8 In this regard, Policy H4(r) (60A Priory Street and 31 Pembury Road, 

Tonbridge) applies and this sets out the relevant criteria for assessment. 

Although the site is smaller than identified in this policy due to the omission of 

31 Pembury Road (which was considered as a possible secondary access route 

into the site), the general policy aims, and criteria would still apply. The criteria 

and assessment against this policy follow: 

6.9 Policy H4(r) (60A Priory Street and 31 Pembury Road, Tonbridge) identifies the 

potential of development for eighteen dwellings subject to the following: 

 Provision of affordable housing in accordance with Core Policy CP17 (1); 

 Achievement of a satisfactory noise climate in accordance with saved Policy 
P3/17 (or its successor Policy) having regard to noise from Pembury Road; 

 Investigation and remediation of any land contamination; 

 A possible contribution towards open playing space provision; 

 Any necessary mitigation measure identified as a result of an 
archaeological assessment; 

 Preferably provision of an improved access from Priory Street; and 

 Contributions towards the improvement of off-site sewerage capacity. 
 

6.10 With regard to the above assessment criteria: 

Page 28



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

6.10.1 The application does not seek to provide affordable housing as the number of 

proposed dwellings falls below the threshold of fifteen or more dwellings as 

detailed in Policy CP17 of the TMBCS. 

6.10.2 The policy refers to Pembury Road as a potential noise source. The site does 

not include 31 Pembury Road and the proposed dwellings are set back from 

that road. As such, this would screen the development from noise sources 

along the road.  

6.10.3 Assessments of the land contamination, open space, archaeology, access and 

drainage are set out in relevant sections later in this report. These conclude that 

this would be acceptable. 

6.11 In light of the above, the proposal accords with the aims of the policy. Moreover, 

the NPPF seeks to maximise opportunities for the supply of housing in 

appropriate locations and the effective use of land. Policy H4 r) by identifying 

land within the established settlement, and allowing for the redevelopment of 

previously development land, accords with the aims of the NPPF. 

6.12 The site is currently operated as a car park and is previously developed land. 

However, the site is not allocated for employment purposes and therefore there 

is no policy basis within which to seek its retention for such a use. 

Density and Design/Character 

6.13 As noted above the site as identified in policy H4 (r) seeks development at the 

highest density compatible with the character and amenity of the surrounding 

area, but not normally at a density of less than 30 dwellings per hectare. The 

eighteen dwellings mentioned in the policy constitutes a density of 45 dwellings 

per hectare. This density is higher than that visible along Pembury Road, but 

similar to or less than the density of dwellings to the north and east.  

6.14 The policy is aligned with paragraphs 119-120 and 124 of the NPPF which 

promotes the effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other 

uses and recognises the value of using undeveloped and suitable brownfield 

land, particularly where this would meet an identified housing need subject to 

certain considerations. This includes the desirability of maintaining an area’s 

prevailing character and setting (including residential gardens), or of promoting 

regeneration and change; and the importance of securing well-designed, 

attractive and healthy places. 

6.15 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF sets out that planning policies and decisions should 

ensure that developments:   

a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the 

short term but over the lifetime of the development;   

Page 29



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and 

appropriate and effective landscaping;   

c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding 

built environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or 

discouraging appropriate innovation or change (such as increased 

densities); d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the 

arrangement of streets, spaces, building types and materials to create 

attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit;   

d) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an 

appropriate amount and mix of development (including green and other 

public space) and support local facilities and transport networks; and   

e) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote 

health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and 

future users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not 

undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience. 

6.16 Development of poor design that fails to reflect local design policies and 

government guidance on design should be refused as detailed in paragraph 134 

of the NPPF. 

6.17 Policy CP24 of the TMBCS seeks to ensure that all development is well 

designed and respects the site and its surroundings. This aim is echoed in 

paragraph 58 of the NPPF which seeks to ensure that development will function 

well, create attractive, safe places in which to live and work, optimise the 

potential of the site, respond to the local character of the surroundings and be 

visually attractive. In addition, policy SQ1 of the MDE DPD requires 

development to reflect the local distinctiveness, condition and sensitivity to 

change of the local character areas. These policies are broadly in conformity 

with those contained within the Framework which relate to quality of new 

developments. 

6.18 The proposal seeks to redevelop previously developed land comprising a 

commercial site currently used as car parking within a predominantly residential 

area. The proposed density of 44 dwellings per hectare (“dph”) accords with 

that suggested for within Policy H4(r).  

6.19 The dwellings are arranged as three terraces with a detached dwelling to the 

northwest and southeast corners. The linear line of terraced dwellings would be 

parallel to the building line along Pembury Road, thereby generally referencing 

existing patterns of development. The layout allows for open spaces around the 

built form of the dwellings with gardens to the rear and sides and parking to the 

front, and this provides a degree of spaciousness similar to that visible in Priory 

Grove to the north. Although the two detached dwellings are set back from the 

line of the terraced dwellings, their setting within wider gardens, which extend 

beyond their outward facing side elevations, ensures a cramped appearance is 

avoided and efficient use of the space within this irregular shaped plot.  

Page 30



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

6.20 Turning to the design, the site is within B2 Priory Road Area of the TCA SPD. 

This area is described as having retained its tight knit Victorian character and 

street layout. The character of Priory Street is defined by 19th century workers 

cottages and draws reference from red brick and slate roofs. The area 

immediately to the southwest (area A1.1 Pembury Road West in the TCA SDP) 

comprises elegant 2-3 storey mid to late Victorian villas and institutional 

buildings, the scale and bulk of which reflect the historic and current importance 

of the primary access road to the town centre. 

6.21 As noted, the development references the existing linear patterns of 

development visible within this locality. Whilst the detached dwellings at either 

end of the development would be set back from the line of the terraces, this 

would not be overly conspicuous within the context of this site.  

6.22 The backland position of the site ensures that the development would be largely 

screened from public view by existing dwellings/buildings along Priory Street 

and Pembury Road. Indeed, the development would be most visible from Priory 

Grove to the north, which has decidedly 20th century layout and appearance. 

The contemporary appearance of the dwellings would be acceptable within this 

context. The development would feature a cohesive and unified appearance 

across the terraced and detached dwellings with a restricted palette of materials 

broadly aligned with that visible within the surrounding roads. A condition would 

be imposed to require details of materials to ensure that the final selection is 

appropriate within this context. 

6.23 The 2.5-storey appearance would not be out of character having regard to the 

height and scale of dwellings around the site, in particular along Priory Grove 

and Pembury Road. A condition is recommended to require final slab and ridge 

heights is recommended to ensure that the development is appropriately 

aligned in final design and delivery.  

6.24 Third party comments regarding the height shown in initial drawings are noted. 

However, the 38m figure relates to the height above ordnance datum (AOD). 

This is a topographical measurement referring to height relative average sea 

level, not the height of the building. 

6.25 The proposed site plan and street views show indicative landscaping. Overall, 

there is an acceptable level of soft landscaping space available to provide 

balance to the development within this urban context. A condition is 

recommended to require detailed landscaping design to include planting, hard 

surfacing and boundary treatment details. Native planting would be encouraged 

by informative. This would ensure that the proposal results in a high-quality 

appearance. 

6.26 Subject to the above recommended conditions, the development would 

represent efficient use of land which would not result in harm to the character 

and appearance of the surrounding area.  

Page 31



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

Living conditions / Noise 

6.27 The National Design Guide (2021) sets out that high quality design includes the 

provision of satisfactory living conditions for future occupiers. The proposed 

internal habitable accommodation would be suitable for family sized dwellings, 

and the external amenity space would be suitable. 

6.28 With regard to noise, Policy SQ6 of the MDE DPD requires that proposals for 

noise-sensitive development should demonstrate that noise levels are 

appropriate for the proposed use. Similarly, Policy H4(r) requires that a 

satisfactory noise climate is achieved.  

6.29 The application includes an External Building Fabric Assessment. This details 

external noise measurements take at the site and assesses internal noise levels 

based upon the proposed building method. The report concludes that internal 

noise levels in accordance with guidelines set out in BS and WHO guidelines 

can be achieved with the incorporation of mitigation measures (include double 

glazing and trickle ventilation). Subject to the imposition of a condition to require 

that the development is carried out in line with the recommendations, the 

proposal would comply with relevant policies.  

6.30 It is noted that the refuse and cycle storage area is situated to the front of three 

of the plots to the north of the site. This area would be situated a minimum of 

6m from the nearest front elevation of the dwelling. The drawing implies that 

access to this area would be from the east, thereby ensuring that the proposal 

minimises the movement of other neighbours to the front of the plots in 

question. However, limited details have been provided with regard to the 

appearance and enclosure of this area. In order to ensure that this area does 

not result in harm to either the outlook of these properties and nuisance, a 

condition is recommended to secure detailed design of this area. 

6.31 Subject to the conditions set out above, the proposal would provide satisfactory 

living conditions for future occupiers of the dwellings.  

Neighbour amenity 

6.32 The proposed development is enclosed on all sides by existing development. 

The rear gardens of dwellings along Priory Street measure 18m in depth. This 

distance, the setback of the proposed dwellings from the site boundary 

(minimum 2m from the southeast corner) and their angled position to the 

boundary with gardens in Priory Street would ensure that the development 

would not result in adverse overlooking, overshadowing or dominating effect.  

6.33 Similarly, the rear gardens of properties along Pembury Road extend 

approximately 30m from their rear elevations. In several instances, these 

properties feature outbuildings situated near their rear boundary. This 

Page 32



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

separation distance would ensure that the proposed dwellings would not result 

in harm to the amenities of 33-49a Pembury Road.  

6.34 The detached dwelling to the northwest corner of the site would be situated 

6.6m from the southeast corner of the garden serving 31 Priory Walk. The 

northwest elevation of the proposed dwelling does not include any windows 

facing the neighbouring property. The rear windows of the proposed dwelling 

would be oriented towards 31 Pembury Road, the veterinary surgery, and away 

from 31 Priory Walk. This position and orientation would ensure that the 

propose dwelling would not result in harmful overlooking of the neighbouring 

property. Appropriate boundary treatments would be considered as part of the 

landscaping condition recommended.  

6.35 Turning to properties along Priory Grove, the nearest dwelling is 19 Priory 

Grove. That dwelling is set close to the north boundary of the site but does not 

feature windows within the facing side elevation. Due to the northeast 

orientation proposed dwellings and the absence of windows within the side 

(northwest) elevations, the proposal would not lead to adverse harm to privacy, 

light or overbearing impact.  

6.36 Third party comments regarding disturbance during construction activities are 

noted. This activity is temporary and the impact can be controlled by condition 

requiring the submission and approval of an appropriate Construction 

Management Plan.  

Highway Safety and parking 

6.37 Policy SQ8 of the MDE DPD states that development will only be permitted 

where there will be no significant harm to highway safety. This is in accordance 

with the relevant policies of the NPPF. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that 

development should only be refused on transport grounds if there would be an 

unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts of 

the development would be severe. 

6.38 The proposal would re-use the existing access to Priory Street. KCC Highways 

and Transportation has advised that the sightlines from the access meet design 

guidance. The change of character and volume of traffic movements for the 

proposed residential development would not result in adverse harm to highway 

safety or capacity when compared to the transport implications of the existing 

lawful use as a builders’ merchant and temporary use as a car park.  

6.39 Notwithstanding the above conclusion, it is noted that construction operations 

could result in temporary highways safety risks. As such, a pre-commencement 

condition requiring the submission and prior approval of a Construction 

Management Plan is recommended. The development would be required to be 

carried out in accordance with the approved plan. 

Page 33



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

6.40 The Kent Design Guide Review: Interim Guidance Note 3 Residential Parking 

2008 (IGN3) recommends one space per unit for three-bed dwellings located in 

a city/town centre location. The Borough Council and KCC Highways and 

Transportation have previously concluded that the site is within a town centre 

location for the purposes of the assessment against the criteria set out in IGN3. 

The proposal for thirteen car parking spaces exceeds the adopted standard of 

eleven spaces for this development. It is noted, however, that a number of the 

spaces are 0.1m narrower than recommended in the Kent Design Guide. 

Nevertheless, no objection is raised on this account as it is clear both that the 

site can accommodate the requisite number of spaces and the spaces could be 

widened to meet design guidance without negative impact to the overall layout 

and appearance of the development having regard to the margin of widening 

required (less than 500mm). Therefore, a condition would be imposed to require 

submission of final parking space layout and design. This would ensure design 

compliance and the retention of the spaces.  

6.41 The quantity of cycle parking spaces shown in the drawings is appropriate to 

the scale and location of the development. This would be secured and retained 

by way of an appropriate condition. 

6.42 KCC Highways and Transportation requests a condition to require electric 

vehicle charging. Since 15 June 2022, such provision is required by Buildings 

Regulations Approved Document S. As such, the condition is not necessary.  

6.43 In light of the comments made by the highway authority, and the provision of 

on-site parking in excess of that recommended in IGN3, the proposal accords 

with highways and parking policies.  

Drainage & surface water management 

6.44 Paragraph 169 of the NPPF requires major developments to incorporate 

sustainable drainage systems unless there is clear evidence that this would be 

inappropriate. The systems used should take account of advice from the lead 

local flood authority; have appropriate proposed minimum operational 

standards; have maintenance arrangements in place to ensure an acceptable 

standard of operation for the lifetime of the development; and where possible, 

provide multifunctional benefits. 

6.45 The application includes a Drainage Strategy and associated supporting details. 

Surface runoff is to be connected to existing mains sewer within the area with 

additional drainage measures on site. KCC as the Lead Local Flood Authority 

has reviewed the information and broadly accepts the proposal. However, it 

recommends conditions to require further details, and these are considered 

appropriate and reasonable, to ensure that adequate drainage is achieved.  

6.46 Southern Water has commented that a formal application for a connection to 

the public foul sewer will need to be made and this is a matter for agreement 

Page 34



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

between the agent/applicant and the Southern Water. It further notes that 

network reinforcements may be necessary, but this would be the responsibility 

of Southern Water. Although it recommends a condition to restrict occupancy 

until such time as the reinforcements are complete, given that a license is 

required to connect to the network, it is unclear as to why this objective could 

not be obtained by way of the licensing activity. As such, it is not considered to 

be justified in this instance.  

Ecology and Biodiversity 

6.47 The site features extensive areas of hard surfacing and buildings to the 

northwest side. Given the existing use and condition of the land, it is of limited 

ecological value. Although residential gardens are often limited in biodiversity 

value, the addition of soft landscaping nevertheless offers potential 

improvement to the local environment and biodiversity in this instance. The 

recommended landscaping condition provides the opportunity to ensure native 

planting and some biodiversity net gain. On this basis, the proposal would 

comply with Policy NE3 of the MDE DPD or paragraphs 174 and 180 of the 

NPPF. 

Contamination 

6.48 Paragraph 183 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should 

ensure that: 

a) a site is suitable for its proposed use taking account ground conditions and 
any risks arising from land instability and contamination. This includes risks 
arising from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, and any 
proposals for mitigation including land remediation (as well as potential impacts 
on the natural environment arising from that remediation); 
b) after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being 
determined as contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990; and 
c) adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is 
available to inform these assessments.  
 

6.49 Paragraph 184 makes clear that where a site is affected by contamination or 

land stability issues, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with 

the developer and/or landowner. 

6.50 Environmental Protection has considered the submitted Phase 1 Geo 

Environmental Desk Study and Preliminary Risk Assessment and advises that 

this adequately reviews the history of the site and potential contamination risks 

arising from commercial uses. Further site investigation is recommended, and a 

pre-commencement condition is proposed to ensure that the risks are 

appropriate addressed. This will require details of a remediation method 

statement and strategy, and a further condition is recommended to require that 

the development is carried out in accordance with the approved details.  

Page 35



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

Heritage 

6.51 Paragraph 194 of the NPPF states that developers should submit an 

appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, field evaluations 

where a site has the potential to include heritage assets with archaeological 

interest. The application includes an Archaeological Desk-based Assessment. 

Although the site is not within an Area of Archaeological Potential, there is a 

possibility of archaeological remains and this is referenced in Policy H4(r). KCC 

Heritage has noted the potential for archaeological remains within the site. 

Although the site is hard surfaced, this level of development would not include 

deeper excavations required for this development. On this basis, it recommends 

a pre-commencement condition to require the submission of archaeological field 

evaluation works. Taking into account the condition of the site and works to be 

carried out, it is considered that this is reasonable and justified in this instance. 

Planning Obligations 

6.52 Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations (2010) sets out the statutory framework 

for seeking planning obligations and states that a planning obligation may only 

constitute a reason for granting planning permission for the development if the 

obligation is: 

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

(b) directly related to the development; and 

(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development 

6.53 Paragraph 57 of the NPPF reflects this statutory requirement. 

6.54 Policy CP25 of the TMBCS requires development proposals to either 

incorporate the infrastructure required as a result of the scheme or make 

provision for financial contributions. Paragraph 55 of the NPPF requires local 

planning authorities to consider whether otherwise unacceptable development 

could be made acceptable through the use of conditions or planning obligations. 

Paragraph 92 of the NPPF requires planning policies and decisions to provide 

the social, recreational and cultural facilities and service the community needs. 

6.55 Policy OS3 of the MDE DPD requires all residential developments of 5 units or 

above to provide open space in accordance with the quantitative standards set 

out in Policy Annex OS3 of the MDE DPD. Where on-site or off-site provision is 

not possible, a financial contribution may be secured for the provision or 

enhancement of new/existing opens spaces.  

6.56 It is not possible to incorporate open space within the site, but the policy allows 

for a financial contribution to be made towards off-site provision and 

enhancement. The Council’s Leisure Services has calculated the contribution at 

£44,000.00 towards existing facilities to be agreed with the applicant. This is 

Page 36



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

considered reasonably necessary given the urban context and the provision of 

family homes.  

6.57 KCC (Economic Development) has advised that the development would impact 

upon County services and requests financial contributions to enhance existing 

provision in order to meet the demands of the services. The request by KCC for 

contributions to enhance existing educational facilities, library provision, youth 

services, social care and waste are considered to be compliant with the CIL 

regulations. As such a proportion of the overall contribution should be set aside 

for KCC. The request is set out in the Appendix to this report. 

6.58 Sufficient detail has been provided in relation to the above requests to ensure 

the relevant statutory and policy tests have been met. The agent/applicant has 

indicated agreement of the financial contributions, and the contributions should 

be secured through the legal agreement to which KCC would be party. 

Conclusion and planning balance 

6.59 The principle of the development is acceptable and accords with the 

development plan policy CP11 and in the broadest of terms, with development 

plan policy H4(r). 

6.60 The LPA cannot currently demonstrate a five-year housing supply, and the 

presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out at paragraph 11(d) 

of the NPPF applies in this instance. The test in this case is whether or not 

there are any adverse impacts of granting planning permission that would 

significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against 

the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 

6.61 The development will not conflict with policies of the NPPF as referenced in 

paragraph 11(d). It would contribute to the overall housing supply of the 

Borough at a time of need. There would be a short-term economic uplift related 

to the construction operations of the dwellings.  

6.62 It is therefore recommended that planning permission be granted subject to the 

finalisation of a legal agreement securing various planning obligations as set out 

throughout this report and various planning conditions to ensure that the 

development comes forward in an acceptable, high-quality fashion. 

7. Recommendation: 

7.1 Grant planning permission in accordance with the following submitted details:  

 

Design and Access Statement    received 02.08.2022, Transport Statement  

October 2022 Revision 3 received 12.10.2022, Topographical Survey  

J18111_01  received 14.03.2022, Existing Site Plan  P21052-FA-002  received 

14.03.2022, Existing Elevations  P21052-FA-003  received 14.03.2022, 

Page 37



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

Sections  P21052-FA-003  received 14.03.2022, Location Plan  P21052-FA-001  

received 14.03.2022, Planning Statement    received 14.03.2022, Design and 

Access Statement    received 14.03.2022, Schedule  Area Schedule  received 

14.03.2022, Air Quality Assessment    received 14.03.2022, Arboricultural 

Assessment    received 14.03.2022, Archaeological Assessment    received 

14.03.2022, Drainage Statement    received 14.03.2022, Report  External 

building fabric  received 14.03.2022, Environmental Assessment    received 

14.03.2022, Environmental Assessment  Appendix B  received 14.03.2022, 

Proposed Elevations  21052-FA-300 Proposed Site Elevations - North and 

South  received 21.10.2022, Proposed Elevations  21052-FA-311 House Type 2  

received 21.10.2022, Proposed Elevations  21052-FA-310 House Type 1  

received 21.10.2022, Proposed Elevations  21052-FA-301 Proposed Site 

Elevations - East and West  received 21.10.2022, Sections  21052-FA-211 

House Type 2  received 21.10.2022, Sections  21052-FA-210 House Type 1  

received 21.10.2022, Sections  21052-FA-200 Proposed Site Sections  received 

21.10.2022, Proposed Floor Plans  21052-FA-111a House Type 2  received 

21.10.2022, Proposed Floor Plans  21052-FA-110 House Type 1  received 

21.10.2022, Proposed Site Plan  21052-FA-100  received 21.10.2022, 

Statement  21052 Priory Street Design Amendments  received 21.10.2022, 

Artist's Impression  Aerial View Looking North  received 21.10.2022, Artist's 

Impression  Aerial View Looking East  received 21.10.2022, Artist's Impression  

Aerial View Looking South  received 21.10.2022, Artist's Impression  Aerial 

View Looking West  received 21.10.2022, Artist's Impression  01 Street view. 

Site entrance  received 21.10.2022, Artist's Impression  02 Street view 1  

received 21.10.2022, Artist's Impression  03 Street view 2  received 21.10.2022, 

Artist's Impression  04 Street view 3  received 21.10.2022, Artist's Impression  

05 Street view 4  received 21.10.2022 

subject to the following: 
 

 The applicant entering into a planning obligation with the Borough Council to 

provide financial contributions towards public open space provision (parks 

and gardens and outdoor sports facilities); 

 The applicant entering into a planning obligation with Kent County Council to 

make financial contributions towards the provision of social care, education 

and community services  

The section 106 agreement should be agreed in principle within 3 months 
and the legalities completed within 6 months of the committee resolution 
unless there are good reasons for the delay. Should the agreement under 
Section 106 of the Act not be completed and signed by all relevant parties by 
16 August 2023, the application would be reported back to the Area 1 
Planning Committee with an update on progress and a further 
recommendation or in the alternative the application may be refused under 
powers delegated to the Director of Planning, Housing and Environmental 
Health who will determine the specific reasons for refusal in consultation with 
the Chairman and Ward Members. 

Page 38



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

 

 The following conditions: 

 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission. 
  

Reason:  In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 

 
 2 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the plans listed in the 

section of this decision notice headed 'This was approved in accordance with 
the following submitted details'. 

  
Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approval and to ensure the quality of development indicated on the approved 
plans is achieved in practice. 

 
 3 No above ground development shall take place until details and samples of 

materials to be used externally have been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority, and the development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

  
Reason:  To ensure that the development does not harm the character and 
appearance of the existing building or the visual amenity of the locality. 

 
 4 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved a scheme of 

hard and soft landscaping and boundary treatment shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning authority. Details shall include: 

 
(a) proposed finished levels of contours  
(b) hard surfacing materials   
(c)details of hard and soft boundary enclosures;  
(d) all proposed soft landscaping including a schedule of plant noting the 
species, planting size and planting densities and an implementation 
programme.  
 
All planting, seeding and turfing comprised in the approved scheme of 
landscaping shall be implemented during the first planting season following 
occupation of the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is 
the earlier. Any trees or shrubs removed, dying, being seriously damaged or 
diseased within 5 years of planting shall be replaced in the next planting season 
with trees or shrubs of similar size and species. Any boundary fences or walls 
or similar structures as may be approved shall be erected before first 
occupation of the building to which they relate.   

  
Reason:  In the interests of protecting and enhancing the visual amenity of the 
area.  

 

Page 39



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

 5 No development, other than the demolition of any buildings, removal of 
hardstanding, ground investigations or site survey works, shall take place until a 
plan showing the proposed finished floor levels, eaves and ridge levels of the 
dwellings and finished ground levels in relation to the existing ground levels of 
the site and adjoining land has been submitted to and approved by the local 
planning authority. The details to include a scaled cross section showing the 
proposed development in relation to the adjacent buildings.  The works shall 
then be carried out in strict accordance with those details.  The works shall be 
carried out in strict accordance with the approved details.  

  
Reason: To ensure that the development does not harm the character of the 
area or visual amenity of the locality.  

 
 6 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, a 

Construction Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority. The Plan should set out arrangements for the 
management of any and all demolition and/or construction works and shall 
include (but not necessarily be limited to) the following:  

   
(a) The days of the week and hours of the day when the construction works 
will be limited to and measured to ensure these are adhered to;   
(b) Procedures for managing all traffic movements associated with the 
construction works including (but not limited to) the delivery of building materials 
to the site (including the times of the day when those deliveries will be permitted 
to take place and how/where materials will be offloaded into the site) and for the 
management of all other construction related traffic and measures to ensure 
these are adhered to;   
(c) The specific arrangements for the routing and parking of contractor's 
vehicles within or around the site during construction and any external storage 
of materials or plant throughout the construction phase.   
(d) The provision of wheel washing facilities.  
(e) Temporary traffic management/signage  
(f)  Provision of measures to prevent the discharge of surface water onto the 
highway  
(g) Procedures for notifying neighbouring properties as to the ongoing 
timetabling of works, the nature of the works and likely their duration, with 
particular reference to any such works which may give rise to noise and 
disturbance and any other regular liaison or information dissemination; and  
(h) The controls on noise and dust arising from the site with reference to 
current guidance.  

  
The development shall be undertaken in full compliance with the approved 
details.  

  
Reason:  In the interests of general amenity and highway safety.  

 
 7 No above ground development shall begin until a detailed sustainable surface 

water drainage scheme for the site has been submitted to and approved by the 
local planning authority. The detailed drainage scheme shall demonstrate that 
both the rate and volume of run-off leaving the site post-development will be 

Page 40



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

restricted to that of the existing site, with the rate of runoff for any rainfall event 
agreed in advance with Southern Water and TMBC (for all storms up to, and 
including, the climate change adjusted 100yr critical storm).  

  
Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated 
into this proposal and to ensure ongoing efficiency of the drainage provisions.  

 
 8 No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until details of the 

implementation, maintenance and management of the sustainable drainage 
scheme have been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. 
The scheme shall be implemented and thereafter managed and maintained in 
accordance with the approved details. Those details shall include:   

  
(a) a timetable for its implementation, and   
(b) a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development 
which shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or 
statutory undertaker, or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the 
sustainable drainage system throughout its lifetime.  

  
Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated 
into this proposal and to ensure ongoing efficiency of the drainage provisions.  

 
 9 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, details of the 

area and spaces for parking and turning shall be submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority. The parking and turning areas shall be provided, 
surfaced and drained in accordance with the approved scheme before first 
occupation of the development. Thereafter it shall be kept available for such use 
and no permanent development, whether or not permitted by the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order 
amending, revoking and reenacting that Order), shall be carried out on the land 
so shown or in such a position as to preclude vehicular access to this reserved 
turning area.  

  
Reason:  Development without provision of adequate turning facilities is likely to 
give rise to hazardous conditions in the public highway.  

 
10 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, details of the 

secure cycle storage facilities shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The approved cycle storage shall be completed 
prior to the first occupation of the development, and thereafter maintained and 
retained in accordance with the approved details.  

  
Reason:  To ensure that cycle storage is provided and maintained in 
accordance with the Council's adopted standards 

 
11 The use shall not be commenced, nor the premises occupied until details of a 

scheme for the storage and screening of refuse has been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved scheme shall be 
implemented before the development is occupied and shall be retained at all 
times thereafter. 

Page 41



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

  
Reason:  To facilitate the collection of refuse and preserve visual amenity.  

 
12 No development, other than ground investigations works, shall take place until 

the following have been submitted to and be approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
 
a) Results of the site investigations (including any necessary intrusive 
investigations) and a risk assessment of the degree and nature of any 
contamination on site and the impact on human health, controlled waters and 
the wider environment.  
b) A detailed remediation method statement/strategy informed by the site 
investigation results and associated risk assessment, which details how the site 
will be made suitable for its approved end use through removal or mitigation 
measures. The method statement must include details of all works to be 
undertaken, proposed remediation objectives, remediation criteria, timetable of 
works and site management and monitoring procedures. The scheme must 
ensure that the site cannot be determined as Contaminated Land as defined 
under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (or as otherwise 
amended).  
c) Details of arrangements for responding to any discovery of unforeseen 
contamination during the undertaking hereby permitted.  Such arrangements 
shall include a requirement to notify the Local Planning Authority in writing of 
the presence of any such unforeseen contamination along with a timetable of 
works to be undertaken to make the site suitable for its approved end use.  
 
Reason: In the interests of amenity, public safety and human health and in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 2021. 

 
13 Following completion of the approved remediation method statement, and prior 

to the first occupation of the development, a relevant verification report that 
scientifically and technically demonstrates the effectiveness and completion of 
the remediation scheme at above and below ground level shall be submitted for 
the information of the Local Planning Authority. The report shall be undertaken 
in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model Procedures 
for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'. Where it is identified that 
further remediation works are necessary, details and a timetable of those works 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for written approval and shall 
be fully implemented as approved.  

  
Thereafter, no works shall take place such as to prejudice the effectiveness of 
the approved scheme of remediation.  

  
Reason: In the interests of amenity, public safety and human health and in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 2021. 
 

14 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details and 
mitigation measures detailed in the External Building Fabric Assessment report 
prepared by RBA Acoustics (11511.RP01.EBF.1 dated 26 January 2022).  

 

Page 42



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

Reason: To safeguard the aural amenity of the occupiers of the dwelling(s) 
hereby approved. 

 
15 Prior to the commencement of development the applicant, or their agents or 

successors in title, will secure:  
 

i archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and 
written timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority; and  
ii further archaeological investigation, recording and reporting, determined by 
the results of the evaluation, in accordance with a specification and timetable 
which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority;  
iii programme of post excavation assessment and publication.  
 
Reason: To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly 
examined, recorded, reported and disseminated. 

 
Informatives: 
 
 1 The proposed development is within a road which has a formal street 

numbering scheme and it will be necessary for the Council to allocate postal 
address(es) to the new property/ies.  To discuss the arrangements, you are 
invited to write to Street Naming & Numbering, Tonbridge and Malling Borough 
Council, Gibson Building, Gibson Drive, Kings Hill, West Malling, Kent, ME19 
4LZ or to e-mail to addresses@tmbc.gov.uk.  To avoid difficulties for first 
occupiers, you are advised to do this as soon as possible and, in any event, not 
less than one month before the new properties are ready for occupation. 

 
 2 In the interests of good neighbourliness the hours of construction, including 

deliveries, should be restricted to Monday to Friday 07.30 - 18.30 hours, 
Saturday 08.00 - 13.00 with no work undertaken on Sundays or Public/Bank 
Holidays.  

 
 3 In the interests of good neighbourliness all vehicles and machinery associated 

with construction should be parked within the site and not on the public highway 
in such a manner as to create an obstruction. 

 
 4 The disposal of waste by incineration is contrary to Waste Management 

Legislation and could lead to justified complaints from local residents.  It is thus 
recommended that no bonfires are lit at the site.  

 
 5 Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council operate a two wheeled bin and green 

box recycling refuse collection service from the boundary of the property.  
Bins/boxes should be stored within the boundary of the property and placed at 
the nearest point to the public highway on the relevant collection day.    

 
 6 The applicant is advised to refer to comments from the Lead Local Flood 

Authority when designing the Sustainable Drainage Systems as required in 
relevant conditions. 

 

Page 43



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 
 

 7 It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development hereby 
approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents 
where required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly 
established in order to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the 
Highway Authority.    

  
 8 The surface for the first 5m of the access from the edge of the highway should 

be a bound surface to prevent overspill onto the public highway.  
 
 9 The Borough Council believes that there is an opportunity to create areas of 

native planting in this development. Plants for such areas should not only be of 
native species but also of local provenance. The use of plants of non-local 
provenance could harm the environment by introducing genetically alien 
material and reducing the variety and viability of other wildlife that the particular 
plant supports.   

 
10 With regard to details required for Condition 9, the Council strongly encourages 

the developer to ensure that the level of parking provision is maintained. 
 

Contact: Alda Song 

 
 
 

Page 44



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council 
Development Control  
Gibson Building  
Gibson Drive  
Kings Hill  
WEST MALLING  
Kent  
ME19 4LZ   
 
FAO:  Alda Song 

Economic Development 
 
Invicta House 
County Hall 
Maidstone 
ME14 1XX 
 
Phone:   03000 41 41 76 
Ask for: Richard Kidd 
Email:     richard.kidd@kent.gov.uk   
 
Thursday 5th May 2022 
 
Your Ref: TM/22/00571/FL 
Our Ref: K/E/TM/22/00571/FL RJK 

  
 
Dear Alda, 
 
Planning Application: TM/22/00571/FL 
Provision and Delivery of County Council Community Services: 
 
We refer to the above planning application, which concerns proposed residential 
development at 60A Priory Street Tonbridge Kent TN9 2AW and comprising: 11 new 
households. 
 
The County Council has assessed the implications of this proposal in terms of the delivery of 
its community services and is of the opinion that it will have an additional impact on the 
delivery of its services, which will require mitigation either through the direct provision of 
infrastructure or the payment of an appropriate financial contribution. 
 
The Planning Act 2008 and the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (the CIL 
Regulations) (Regulation 122) require that requests for development contributions of 
various kinds must comply with three specific legal tests: 
 

1. Necessary, 
2. Related to the development, and  
3. Reasonably related in scale and kind 

 
These tests have been duly applied in the context of this planning application and give rise to 
the following specific requirements (the evidence supporting these requirements is set out 
in the attached Appendices).  
 
 
 
 

Page 45



 2 

 
Request Summary 

 
Per ‘applicable’ House 

(x11) 
Total Project 

Primary Education £4,642.00 £51,062.00 

Towards the expansion of 
Primary Schools in the 

Tonbridge South Planning 
Group 

Secondary 
Education 

£4,540.00 £49,940.00 
Towards the 1FE expansion 

of Tunbridge Wells 
Grammar School for Boys 

(‘applicable’ means: all dwellings except 1 bed of less than 56sqm GIA). 
 
 

 Per Dwelling (x 11) Total Project 

Community 
Learning 

£16.42 
 

£328.40 
 

Towards additional resources and 
equipment at Tonbridge Adult 

Education Centre 

Library Bookstock £55.45 £1,109.00 
Towards additional services and 
bookstock at Tonbridge Library 

Youth Service £65.50 £1,310.00 

Towards additional equipment 
and resources to enable the 

Tonbridge Town Youth Centre, 
and to provide street based youth 
support interventions local to the 
development through outreach 

work to encourage positive social 
behaviours. 

Social Care 
£146.88 £2,937.60 

Towards the Priority areas of: 
Assistive Technology, Adapting 
Community facilities, Sensory 
facilities and Changing Places 

within the Borough. 

All Homes built as Wheelchair Accessible & Adaptable Dwellings in 
accordance with Building Regs Part M 4 (2) 

Waste £183.67 £3,673.40 

Towards improved HWRC and 
replacement of WTS facilities at 
North Farm to serve Tonbridge 

and Malling residents 

Broadband: 

Condition: Before development commences details shall be 
submitted for the installation of fixed telecommunication 
infrastructure and High-Speed Fibre Optic (minimal internal speed of 
1000mbps) connections to multi point destinations and all buildings 
including residential, commercial and community. The infrastructure 
installed in accordance with the approved details during the 
construction of the development, capable of connection to 
commercial broadband providers and maintained in accordance with 
approved details.  
 
Reason: To provide high quality digital infrastructure in new 

developments as required by paragraph 114 NPPF. 

Page 46



 3 

Highways Kent Highway Services will respond separately 

 
Please note that these figures: 

• are to be index linked by the BCIS General Building Cost Index from April 2020 to 
the date of payment (Apr-20 Index 360.3) 

• are valid for 3 months from the date of this letter after which they may need to be 
recalculated due to changes in district council housing trajectories, on-going 
planning applications, changes in capacities and forecast rolls, projects and build 
costs.  
 

Justification for infrastructure provision/development contributions requested 

 

The County Council has modelled the impact of this proposal on the provision of its existing 

services and the outcomes of this process are set out in Appendices below. 
 
……. 
 
Primary Education 
 
The proposal gives rise to two additional primary school pupils during occupation of the 
development. This need, cumulatively with other new developments in the vicinity, can only 
be met through the expansion of Primary Schools within the Tonbridge South Education 
Planning Group.  
 
This proposal has been assessed in accordance with the KCC Development Contributions 
Guide methodology of ‘first come, first served’ assessment; having regard to the indigenous 
pupils, overlain by the pupil generation impact of this and other new residential 
developments in the locality. 
 
The County Council requires a financial contribution towards construction of the new school 
at £1,160.50 per ‘applicable’ flat (‘applicable’ means: all dwellings except 1 bed of less than 
56sqm GIA). 
 
Please note this process will be kept under review and may be subject to change (including 
possible locational change) as the Local Education Authority hasto ensure provision of 
sufficient pupil spaces at an appropriate time and location to meet its statutory obligation 
under the Education Act 1996 and as the Strategic Commissioner of Education provision in 
the County under the Education Act 2011 
 
KCC will commission additional pupil places required to mitigate the forecast impact of new 
residential development on local education infrastructure generally in accordance with its 
Commissioning Plan for Education Provision 2022-26 and Children, Young People and 
Education Vision and Priorities for Improvement 2018-2021. 
 
……. 
 
Secondary School Provision 
 
The impact of this proposal on the delivery of the County Council’s services is assessed in 
Appendix 1. 
 

Page 47



 4 

A contribution is sought based upon the additional need required, where the forecast 
secondary pupil product from new developments in the locality results in the maximum 
capacity of local secondary schools being exceeded.  
 
The proposal is projected to give rise to two additional secondary school pupils from the 
date of occupation of this development. This need can only be met through the 1FE 
expansion of Tunbridge Wells Grammar School for Boys, which is a part of the established 
travel to school pattern for Tonbridge based school pupils and is also in the West Kent 
Selective Planning Group. 
 
Please note where a contributing development is to be completed in phases, payment may 
be triggered through occupation of various stages of the development comprising an initial 
payment and subsequent payments through to completion of the scheme. 
 
The new secondary school accommodation will be provided through expansion of the Judd 
School and delivered in accordance with the Local Planning Authority’s Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan (where available); timetable and phasing.  
 
Please note this process will be kept under review and may be subject to change as the Local 
Education Authority will need to ensure provision of the additional pupil spaces within the 
appropriate time and at an appropriate location. 
 
 
Community Learning 
 
There is an assessed shortfall in provision for this service: the current adult participation in 
both District Centres and Outreach facilities is in excess of current service capacity, as shown 
in Appendix 2 along with the cost of mitigation. 
 
To accommodate the increased demand on KCC Adult Education service, the County Council 
requests £16.42 per dwelling towards the cost of providing additional equipment for new 
learners at Tonbridge Adult Education Centre. 
 
……. 
 
Libraries  
 
KCC are the statutory library authority.  The library authority’s statutory duty in the Public 
Libraries and Museums Act 1964 is to provide ‘a comprehensive and efficient service’. The 
Local Government Act 1972 also requires KCC to take proper care of its libraries and 
archives. 
 
Borrower numbers are in excess of capacity, and bookstock in Tonbridge and Malling 
Borough at 1,110 items per 1,000 population is below the County average of 1,134 and both 
the England and total UK figures of 1,399 and 1,492 respectively.  
 
To mitigate the impact of this development, the County Council will need to provide 
additional services and stock to meet the additional demand which will be generated by the 
people residing in these dwellings.  
 

Page 48



 5 

The County Council therefore requests £55.45 per household to address the direct impact of 
this development, and the additional services and stock will be made available locally at 
Tonbridge Library, as and when the monies are received.  
 
………. 
 
Youth Service  
 
The increased demand on the Kent Youth Service in Tonbridge and Malling means that KCC is 
adapting its delivery model to appropriately serve its client base. This is leading to a mixture 
of youth centre-based work, and projects and programmes provided via outreach teams 
within areas of particular need.  
 
New Youth participation is assessed to be generated from this development. Therefore, the 
County Council requests £65.50 per dwelling towards additional resources and equipment 
to enable the Tonbridge Town Youth Centre, and to assist outreach Youth work in the 
immediate and surrounding area of the development to strengthen positive social 
behaviours. 
 
………. 
 
Social Care 
 
The proposed development will result in additional demand upon Social Care (SC) (older 
people, and also adults with Learning or Physical Disabilities) services, however all available 
care capacity is fully allocated already, and there is no spare capacity to meet additional 
demand arising from this and other new developments which SC are under a statutory 
obligation to meet. In addition, the Social Care budgets are fully allocated, therefore no 
spare funding is available to address additional capital costs for social care clients generated 
from new developments.  
 
To mitigate the impact of this development, KCC Social Care requires: 
 

• a proportionate monetary contribution of £146.88 per household (as set out in 
Appendix 3) towards specialist care accommodation, assistive technology systems, 
adapting Community facilities, sensory facilities, and Changing Places locally in the 
Borough.  

 

• The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government identified in June 
2019 guidance Housing for older and disabled people the need to provide housing 
for older & disabled people is critical. Accessible and adaptable housing enables 
people to live more independently and safely. Accessible and adaptable housing 
provides safe and convenient homes with suitable circulation space and suitable 
bathroom and kitchens. Kent Social Care request these dwellings are built to 
Building Reg Part M4(2) standard to ensure they remain accessible throughout the 
lifetime of the occupants to meet any changes in the occupant’s requirements.  

 
……….. 
 
  

Page 49



 6 

Waste 
 
Kent County Council is a statutory ‘Waste Disposal Authority’, responsible for the safe 
disposal of all household waste arising in Kent, providing Household Waste Recycling Centres 
(HWRC) and Waste Transfer Stations (WTS). Each household produces an average of a 
quarter of a tonne of waste per year to be processed at HWRC’s and half a tonne per year to 
be processed at WTS’s. The existing HWRCs and WTSs are over capacity and additional 
housing is having a significant impact on the manageability of waste within Kent. 
 
While development of new HWRC and WTS facilities is underway in the North of the 
borough, residents in the South of the borough are likely to access waste facilities at North 
Farm in Tunbridge Wells due to their closer proximity, and show a more desirable proximity 
to this application site. 
 
Future housing growth/population increase from developments such as the proposed 
development indicates a significant increase in capacity will be required in the local area. 
 
A contribution of £183.67 per household is therefore required towards an improved HWRC 
and replacement of WTS facilities at North Farm to serve Tonbridge and Malling residents 
from this proposed development to accommodate the increased waste throughput and 
mitigate the impact that will arise. 
 
………… 
 
Broadband: Fibre to the premise/gigabit capable 
 
The NPPF (para 114) and The Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport requires full 
fibre connection to new developments being gigabit capable fibre optic to the premise 
connection for all. 
 
Please include a Planning Condition to provide ‘fibre to the premise’ (FTTP) broadband 
connections to all premises of gigabit capacity. 
 
Developers are advised to make early contact with broadband providers, as there can be a 
lead in time for cable installation and associated infrastructure. 
 
………. 
 
Implementation 
 
The County Council is of the view that the above contributions comply with the provisions of 
CIL Regulation 122 and are necessary to mitigate the impacts of the proposal on the 
provision of those services for which the County Council has a statutory responsibility. 
Accordingly, it is requested that the Local Planning Authority seek a section 106 obligation 
with the developer/interested parties prior to the grant of planning permission. The 
obligation should also include provision for the reimbursement of the County Council’s legal 
costs, surveyors’ fees and expenses incurred in completing the Agreement, and County 
monitoring fee of £500 for each trigger within the Agreement. We would be grateful if you 
could share at your earliest convenience a draft copy of any section 106 agreement or UU 
prior to its finalisation. 
 

Page 50



 7 

Would you please confirm when this application will be considered and provide us with a 
draft copy of the Committee report prior to it being made publicly available? If you do not 
consider the contributions requested to be fair, reasonable and compliant with CIL 
Regulation 122, it is requested that you notify us immediately and allow us at least 10 
working days to provide such additional supplementary information as may be necessary to 
assist your decision-making process in advance of the Committee report being prepared and 
the application being determined. 
 
We look forward to hearing from you with details of progress on this matter. 
 
Yours faithfully, 

 

Richard Kidd   
Development Contributions 
Kent County Council  
 
 
Cc   Skillcrown Homes, Rolfe Judd Planning Ltd, Old Church Court, Claylands Road,  
  London SW8 1NZ   
  KCC Communities & Waste 
     File 
 
Appendices: 
The following Appendices contain the technical details of the County Council’s assessment 
process. 
 

1. Education Assessment 
2. Communities Assessment 
3. Social Care Assessment 
4. Waste Assessment 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Area 1 Planning Committee  
 
 
   

Part 1 Public  16 February 2023 

TM/22/00571/FL 
 
60A Priory Street Tonbridge Kent TN9 2AW   
 
*Amendment* Redevelopment of the site to provide eleven dwellings and associated parking, 
landscaping and amenity 

 
For reference purposes only.  No further copies may be made.  Crown copyright.  All rights reserved.  Tonbridge and Malling 
Borough Council Licence No. 100023300 2015. 

 
 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Guidance for the Conduct of Meetings
	4 Minutes
	5 Glossary and Supplementary Matters
	6 TM/22/00571/FL - 60A Priory Street,Tonbridge
	Annex  -  60A Priory Street Appendix - KCC Contributions
	Map




